



Clinical Commissioning Policy: Treatment as Prevention (TasP) in HIV infected adults

Reference: NHS England xxx/x/x

Clinical Commissioning Policy: Treatment as Prevention (TasP) in HIV infected adults

First published:

Prepared by NHS England Specialised Services Clinical Reference Group for HIV Published by NHS England, in electronic format only.

Contents

Policy Statement	4
Equality Statement	
Plain Language Summary	4
1. Introduction	5
2. Definitions	6
3. Aim and objectives	6
4. Epidemiology and needs assessment	7
5. Evidence base	8
6. Rationale behind the policy statement	12
7. Criteria for commissioning	12
8. Patient pathway	13
9. Governance arrangements	13
10. Mechanism for funding	14
11. Audit requirements	
12. Documents which have informed this policy	14
13. Links to other policies	
14. Date of review	15
Poforoncos	15

Policy Statement

NHS England will commission earlier initiation of treatment in HIV infected adults as a strategy for HIV prevention known as 'Treatment as Prevention. NHS England will commission this treatment in accordance with the criteria outlined in this document.

In creating this policy NHS England has reviewed this clinical condition and the options for its treatment. It has considered the place of this treatment in current clinical practice, whether scientific research has shown the treatment to be of benefit to patients, (including how any benefit is balanced against possible risks) and whether its use represents the best use of NHS resources.

This policy document outlines the arrangements for funding of this treatment for the population in England.

Equality Statement

Throughout the production of this document, due regard has been given to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity, and to foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic (as cited in under the Equality Act 2010) and those who do not share it.

Plain Language Summary

Treatment as prevention (TasP) is a term used to describe HIV prevention methods that use antiretroviral therapy (ART) treatment to significantly decrease the chance of HIV transmission between individuals, and reduce the number of new cases of HIV at population level.

In people with diagnosed HIV, the amount and activity of HIV virus in the person's bodily fluid (viral load) is the single biggest risk factor for onward transmission of HIV. Decreasing viral load not only reduces the risk of illnesses and death in the person with HIV, but also significantly decreases the risk of passing on HIV to their sexual partners. This reduced risk of onward transmission has been demonstrated in high quality studies.

In the UK, British HIV Association guidelines for HIV treatment recommend starting treatment depending on how a person's immunity is doing, which is measured with the CD4 count. The standard is to start when the CD4 count has declined to 350 cells/mm³ or less. The guidelines also recommend as a point of good practice that clinicians discuss and offer TasP with all newly diagnosed patients whatever their CD4 count. A consistent national policy position is required to equitable access in England to TasP.

1. Introduction

To avoid preventable morbidity and mortality, people with diagnosed HIV require treatment with antiretroviral therapy (ART) when their immune system, as monitored by CD4 lymphocyte counts, shows signs of weakening. Anyone with symptomatic HIV infection should be treated urgently. Treatment as Prevention (TasP) is a prevention intervention aimed at bringing forward the time when treatment is given to people with diagnosed HIV infection in order to prevent onward transmission of HIV to sexual partners and ultimately to reduce HIV within the population.

A 'test and treat' policy for HIV infection is used in many resource rich countries including the USA and France (Gupta *et al.* 2013). Such a policy means that irrespective of CD4 count, treatment is indicated to reduce the risk of onward transmission of HIV to uninfected partners. World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines recommend that ART is initiated regardless of clinical stage or CD4 cell count when HIV-positive individuals are in a sero-discordant partnership "to reduce transmission risk" (WHO, 2013).

In the UK, treatment guidelines are produced by the British HIV Association (BHIVA) which is accredited by NICE for guideline production. These state that treatment for all patients should be initiated at a CD4 cell count of 350 cells/mm³ or below unless a patient has cognitive impairment, renal disease or co-infection with other infections when earlier initiation is indicated, such as hepatitis B or C, or tuberculosis. They also recommend that patients wishing to start ART primarily to reduce the risk of transmission to others should be allowed to do so, at any CD4 cell count, and that this decision be taken following an assessment of the risk of transmission to sexual partners and risks and benefits to the individual of earlier treatment (Williams et al. 2012).

There is strong evidence that, among heterosexual people with HIV sero-discordant partners, there is a 96% reduction in HIV transmission from people who successfully take treatment (Cohen et al. 2011).

The best available evidence for men who have sex with men (MSM) is taken from cohort studies which show a similar reduction in transmission (Rodger et al. 2014). A large prospective cohort study of serodifferent couples sponsored by the NIHR (the PARTNER study) is ongoing and interim results indicate a very low rate (estimated rate = 0, upper 95% confidence limit 2.2 / 100 couple years) of transmission of HIV in HIV negative people when an HIV positive person is treated with antiretroviral therapy and with plasma viral load < 200 copies/mL (Rodger et al. 2014, Muessig et al. 2012). Most importantly, there were no linked transmissions (from an HIV positive partner with an undetectable viral load) after almost 44,500 sexual instances when condoms were not used, both amongst heterosexual and MSM couples.

Treatment as Prevention (TasP) has strong biological plausibility, with studies demonstrating that effective antiretroviral treatment is associated with a marked reduction in HIV virus activity in blood, semen and cervical mucosa (Muessig et al. 2012, Cambiano et al. 2014).

Economic modelling suggests that TasP is a cost effective approach and is likely to be cost saving over 15 years in men who have sex with men, due to the resulting

reductions in transmission, and given increased future use of generic drugs (Phillips et al. 2014a, 2014b). Analysis undertaken by Public Health England in developing this policy shows that 1,800 new HIV infections will be prevented. Lifetime costs percase are estimated at between £280-360k, therefore resulting in an overall saving of between £500-647 million to the NHS (Brown, 2013).

This and further modelling data indicates that if ART is given as a prevention initiative, it will reduce the size of the overall epidemic thereby having potential for large cost savings (Keebler et al. 2014, Mackellar et al.2014, Hull et al. 2011, Murray et al. 2013, Brown et al. 2013, Mayer et al. 2013, Ambrosioni et al. 2012, Phillips 2014a, 2014b). Increasing the proportion of people who are aware of their HIV status (Department of Health, 2013), decreasing the rate and variance of partner change and increasing rate of condom use are co-dependent in achieving this overall reduction and saving and remain high priorities across the health and social care system (Phillips et al. 2013).

2. Definitions

Treatment as prevention (TasP) describes the use of ART for people with diagnosed HIV with the aim of preventing HIV transmission to others rather than primarily for their own clinical benefit.

CD4 count A measure of the strength of a person's immune system which is impacted negatively by HIV infection. A low CD4 count indicates that the patient is at risk of opportunistic infections and illness.

PEP Post-exposure prophylaxis: ART given to someone who has been exposed to HIV, to prevent them becoming infected.

PrEP Pre-exposure prophylaxis: ART given to someone who is at risk of exposure to HIV, prior to the exposure, to prevent them becoming infected.

Sero-discordant Used to describe sexual partners with different HIV status. Sometimes called 'serodifferent'.

Viral load The activity of HIV in a bodily fluid (e.g. blood, semen).

MSM Men who have sex with men.

Index case The first case of a disease, in a cohort / in an epidemiological study, as contrasted with second and subsequent cases.

3. Aim and objectives

This policy aims to:

 Reduce the risk of HIV sexual transmission and acquisition by earlier use of ART where this is deemed appropriate due to the risk of transmission and assessment of risks and benefits to the individual.

• Reduce the number of new cases of HIV in the population.

The objectives are to:

 Provide equitable access to a proven method of HIV prevention which is cost effective and will contribute to reducing the HIV epidemic in England.

4. Epidemiology and needs assessment

HIV continues to pose a significant public health risk in England. By the end of 2012, an estimated 98,400 (CI 93,500-104,300) people were living with HIV in the UK; approximately one in five (21,900, 22% [18%- 27%]) of whom were undiagnosed and unaware of their infection (Aghaizu et al. 2013). In high risks groups including MSM, rising rates of new infections have been observed (Phillips, 2013, Fisher et al. 2007). One of the objectives of NHS England and the DH is to reduce the number of people who are unaware that they are HIV positive, both for the benefit of the individual and to reduce onward transmission, given the role that this cohort plays in continuing to drive the UK epidemic (Department of Health, 2013).

Diagnosed population in care and on treatment

In 2012, there were 76,705 adults (aged 15 years or over) receiving HIV care in the UK. Of these, 85% (6,548) received ART.

Profile of those not on treatment

Among the 11,218 patients not receiving ART in 2012, 14% (1,571) had a CD4 count <350 cells/mm³ (and therefore should have been receiving treatment), 86% or 9,625 had a CD4 count of >350 cells/mm³ (Brown, 2014).

Numbers starting treatment and CD4 counts

Of the 6,800 patients starting ART in 2012, 51% had CD4 count <350 cells/mm³. The remaining 49% of patients (n=2,529) started ART with a CD4 count >350 cells/mm³.

Evidence from earlier treatment studies

Recent figures from the ASTRA study show that between 45-50% of people living with HIV would want to start ART at CD4 counts above 350 cells/mm³ (45% stated this, even if it was of no benefit to their own health) (Rodger et al. 2014). Furthermore, a recent audit at Chelsea & Westminster NHS Foundation Trust's Dean Street clinic, which diagnoses a quarter of all new HIV infections in MSM in the UK, 70 out of 100 individuals requested treatment when their CD4 count was above 350 cells/mm³ primarily to reduce the risk of transmission to others (Gazzard, 2014).

Data from the UK Seroconverters Register reports that 75% of people diagnosed during early infection are likely to start treatment within two years. This analysis is conservative for excluding people with symptomatic early infection but shows that the additional duration of TasP may only be a couple of years (Parsons et al. 2014).

Potential cohort for TasP

Public Health England has modelled changes in ART based on a continuation of treatment at CD4 <350, CD4 <500, uptake of TasP based on the ASTRA study (45%) and a 'test and treat' strategy (100% uptake of all patients diagnosed with HIV).

Given that not all patients who are already indicated to take treatment do so, assuming 100% uptake is unlikely. In addition, as the focus of the policy is about protecting sexual partners, it is important to note that not all people living with HIV are sexually active or in sero-discordant relationships and therefore will not be at increased risk of transmitting HIV infection. Finally, this policy allows access to TasP as a choice of prevention following a clinical discussion and assessment of risks and benefits, it is not mandatory. On this basis, application of 45% uptake over the 6 year period is reasonable. However, it is reasonable based on clinical advice that this impact would be gradual following implementation.

The policy would result in a change of timing of treatment for over 7,800 patients over a 6 year period. All of these patients would be eligible for ART by the end of this period based on their own disease progression.

Application of the model would also suggest that an additional 778 people living with HIV would be treated during this period as a result of this policy.

The number of eligible patients under this policy will be affected by the success of other prevention strategies such as increasing HIV testing, which may increase the numbers of patient eligible for HIV treatment in general.

Impact on public health

Public Health England estimate that 1,800 new HIV infections will be prevented as a result of this policy, impacting significantly on reducing the HIV epidemic.

Furthermore, Ecological studies have shown that scaling up of antiretroviral coverage of the population in Kwazulu Natal was associated with a reduction in population prevalence and incidence of HIV, whilst adoption of a "test and treat" approach (increasing diagnosis of HIV and offering of ART to all) has been associated with a reduction in HIV prevalence and incidence in Vancouver and San Francisco.

Extrapolation from these studies, and together with work in the UK (Phillips et al. 2014a, 2014b) would suggest that adoption of a TasP approach, as proposed in this policy, would also result in a reduction in new cases of HIV at a population level as well as between sero-discordant couples at an individual level.

5. Evidence base

Randomised Controlled Trials

The primary evidence source is a large randomised controlled trial published in the New England Journal of Medicine in which people with HIV in sero-discordant relationships were recruited to either receive immediate ART (TasP) or deferred ART after a decline in the CD4 count or the onset of HIV related symptoms (delayed therapy). The primary prevention end point was linked HIV transmission in HIV negative partners (Cohen et al. 2011). The overall risk reduction of HIV transmission resulting from early ART was 96%. There was no evidence in this study or follow up study that taking ART was associated with any increased risk behavior. Risk behavior (i.e. sex without a condom) reduced significantly in both arms of the study, likely due to extensive counselling provided. This study was open to same sex partnerships, with 18 and 19 MSM couples in the early and deferred treatment arms respectively. In this small sample, the rate of acquisition of HIV when the partner was treated with ART was zero.

Studies by risk group

A number of cohort studies have also suggested that MSM have a similar risk reduction to that seen in heterosexuals when the index case is treated with ART (Meuessig et al. 2012). The most important of these is the prospective PARTNER study which reported its results recently (Rodger et al. 2014).

Interim results from the PARTNER study reported no linked transmission during eligible follow-up (most recent viral load in the positive partner < 200 copies/mL) despite 44,500 potential exposures from sex without condoms (including 21,000 times involving anal sex). Approximately 67% of couples were heterosexual and 33% were MSM. Enrollment and follow-up is therefore continuing in MSM couples. This study also showed that ART remained protective even in the context of other sexually transmitted infections (reported in 16% of MSM couples).

This further supports the biological plausibility highlighted in the randomised controlled trial (Cohen et al. 2011), and demonstrates that the impact of ART is also significant for MSM. Available cohort studies also show a reduction in the levels of virus present in blood, semen and cervical mucosa following successful antiretroviral treatment (Muessig et al. 2012, Cambiano et al. 2014).

Efficacy compared with other prevention methods

Condoms remain a highly effective method for reducing transmission of HIV and other STI. Phillips (2013) has modelled scenarios affecting HIV infection rates. Without condom use in UK, HIV rates in MSM would have resulted in a 400% increase in incidence. However policies that rely primarily on condom use still result in high rates of new infections in the England (Phillips, 2013).

Condoms prevent contact with genital fluids by providing a physical barrier and their efficacy is reduced by factors that compromise this, for example breakage and slippage (Fidler et al. 2013, Weller et al. 2002). ART prevents HIV transmission by stopping viral replication and lowering the amount of virus within the genital compartment, making the person with HIV less infectious. Its effectiveness is dependent on good adherence to ART. Additional quality of life benefits include reduced anxiety where breakage or slippage occurs for sero-discordant couples. Protection may be reduced in the presence of other STIs (Wood et al. 2012)

although this was not seen in the PARTNER study.

There has never been a randomized controlled trial of the efficacy of condom use versus no condom use, for ethical reasons. However, several meta-analyses of observational and cohort studies of HIV infection in couples who self-reported 100% condom use have found that this strategy is about 80% (79–93%) effective in reducing HIV infections (Weller et al. 2002). The US CDC have recently reported evidence that 100% condom use has a protective benefit of 70% for anal sex compared with no condom use, and 68% compared with intermittent condom use (Smith et al. 2013). This is somewhat lower than efficacies computed for vaginal sex. However, there is a strong risk of bias in these studies as a small number of couples in which transmission occurred incorrectly reporting 100% condom use (and we know such social desirability reporting bias occurs) is enough to lead to significant under-estimation of condom efficacy.

It must be noted that it is not possible to make a direct comparison of these two strategies due to the differences in study types and outcomes considered.

Non sexual transmission

There is convincing evidence in non-sexual contexts both of the direct relationship between viral load and infectiousness, and the impact of ART on reducing viral load and thus on risk of transmission. The impact of ART in preventing mother-to-child transmission is now well established. It has been shown that mothers with HIV are much less likely to transmit HIV to their babies if their viral load is less than 1,000 copies/ ml. (Loannidis et al. 2001) Since the introduction of ART in pregnancy, less than 1% of children born to HIV positive mothers are vertically infected if appropriate interventions are taken (von Linstow et al. 2010). A retrospective, case controlled study of healthcare workers infected with HIV through needle-stick injuries, showed that higher viral loads in the source patients involved made transmission more likely (Cardo et al. 1997) Furthermore, recent guidance from Public Health England has stated that HIV positive healthcare workers who preform exposure prone procedures should decide in collaboration with their clinician "whether they wish to take antiretroviral therapy for occupational health reasons when it is not clinically indicated" (Public Health England, 2013).

a) Efficacy

People with diagnosed HIV will require ART at some point in their pathway. TasP provides an option of bringing this treatment time forward for the purpose of preventing new infections. Discussions about the benefits and risks of TasP may require additional time for discussion between patients and their clinician.

Evidence from both randomised and observational studies report that ART reduces the risk of HIV transmission by at least 96% (Cohen et al. 2011) and that this effect is actually likely to be significantly higher in the context of having an undetectable viral load.

TasP is an additional approach to HIV prevention. It is not in place of condom use and other strategies, but is an adjunct to these where one of the partners has

diagnosed HIV infection, is sexually active and has received information about the risks and benefits of taking ART.

Increasingly, TasP provides a more cost effective approach than sperm washing for those partners wishing to conceive.

b) Safety

The safety profile from currently used ART is well described. Routine monitoring and management according the BHIVA guidelines (Williams et al. 2012) supports high levels of tolerability and low levels of serious side effects. Individualised treatment and a wide choice of drugs means that most people with HIV will have access to regimens they can tolerate. These drugs are also used by HIV negative people who are potentially exposed to HIV infection through post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP).

Any decision to prescribe TasP should be based on a full discussion between clinician and patient considering the transmission risk and all the benefits and risks to the individual. Prescribing TasP would not be mandatory but a choice where required.

c) Impact on quality of life

Quality of life has not been specifically studied when treatment is used as prevention. ART can have physical and psychological side effects. People with HIV infection will require treatment when viral load increases or immunity declines. Starting treatment earlier to prevent onward transmission to partners is strongly argued by advocacy organisations to have a positive impact on psychological factors and emotional wellbeing of people with HIV (National Aids Trust, 2012).

d) Cost-effectiveness

The lifetime cost of one person acquiring HIV infection was estimated to be £280,000-£360,000 by the Health Protection Agency in 2011. Whilst this calculation is likely to reduce due to the availability of generics, it is preferable to avoid HIV infection and numerous cost effectiveness analyses have been performed to assess the impact of TasP, most of which have shown it to be cost effective or cost saving across a range of potential assumptions (Keebler et al. 2014, Phillips et al. 2014a and 2014b, Sorensen et al. 2012, Murray. 2013, Hull and Montaner. 2011).

In MSM, the latest evidence suggests that TaSP in this group is highly cost effective, with an incremental cost effectiveness ratio of <£4,000. This analysis includes modelling for the impact of increasing use of cheaper generic drugs over a 15 year period (Phillips et al. 2014b).

This policy will mean earlier rather than additional treatment costs for HIV positive people and importantly will result in significant cost avoidance of full lifetime costs of HIV infection for new HIV infections which are prevented.

The cost of drugs for treatment is one of the most critical factors in these financial models. These costs are reducing substantially as a result of introduction of generic ARV compounds and thus treatment as prevention is likely to be cost saving in the

future.

Public Health England estimates that this policy will result in additional 778 patients over a 6-year period receiving treatment than otherwise would have done so, at a cost of £75m over this period. This will result in 1,800 infections prevented, resulting in NHS savings of £14m over this period, and between £500-647m in lifetime costs to the NHS (Brown, 2014).

6. Rationale behind the policy statement

Effective ART has transformed HIV from a fatal illness to a long term, treatable condition. Whilst mortality and morbidity have reduced, focus is now on strategies to reduce new HIV transmissions. New HIV infections continue at over 6,000 per annum. New HIV infections are also considered to be a key driver of ongoing infection. Opportunities to further increase prevention strategies are key to turning the tide of the epidemic.

The effectiveness of ART has been shown in terms of improved outcomes for infected individuals and preventing infection following high risk exposure. The drugs significantly reduce the levels of HIV, including in genital fluids, to levels that make sexual transmission unlikely to occur. In 2012, it is estimated that 78% of all diagnosed patients were virally suppressed.

For people living with HIV who are sexually active and in sero-discordant relationships, earlier initiation of HIV treatment offers additional protection from the risk of HIV transmission which can continue to be present even with condom usage due to risk of condom breakage. Advocacy organisations also report the benefits of psychological well-being of people living with HIV due to reduced anxiety relating to transmission risk, further benefits to personal/sexual relationships and disclosure, and reductions in internalised stigma.

7. Criteria for commissioning

Treatment as Prevention will be routinely commissioned where all of the commissioning criteria below are met

- · Laboratory confirmed diagnosis of HIV infection, and
- Sexually active, and
- Discussion between clinician and patient has identified significant risk of HIV transmission to partners without TasP, and
- Patient has considered the information relating to TasP and understands the risks and benefits and has requested TasP to prevent onward HIV transmission, and
- Regimen selected is the lowest cost, clinically appropriate option

It should be made clear to these people that the evidence for personal clinical benefit from early treatment is not yet proven, however there may be psychological benefits which derive from the ability to reduce the risk of transmission to others.

a) Exclusions

Treatment as Prevention is not routinely commissioned for

- Patients without a laboratory confirmed diagnosis of HIV
- Patients who are not sexually active deemed to be at high risk of transmitting HIV
- Patients who do not request TasP
- Patients for whom the discussion about risks and benefits of treatment is not documented
- Paediatric patients living with HIV

b) Starting and stopping criteria

The criteria for starting treatment is the assessment between clinician and patient that transmission risk to partners warrants consideration of TasP and that the patient has considered the risks and benefits to them of starting treatment.

The regimen used should follow BHIVA guidelines for using lowest cost clinically appropriate option.

Once treatment has been started it is not generally recommended to stop, unless this is clinically indicated. Although this would be subject to patient choice following discussion of risks

Changes in regimen may be required to manage individual responses to the agents used.

8. Patient pathway

HIV positive people with a CD4 count above 350 cells/mm³ are currently routinely monitored until the CD4 count reaches a level at which treatment is indicated. Following approval of this policy, the option to start treatment would be available at higher CD4 counts in order to reduce HIV transmission. Patients not on ART are monitored every 3-4 months. Patients stable on ART are monitored every 6-12 months.

9. Governance arrangements

Management of ART is already routinely carried out in all HIV treatment centres. The monitoring of patients with other complications, including renal or liver disease or co-infection is the same for those receiving ART.

10. Mechanism for funding

NHS England is responsible for the commissioning of all antiretroviral medicines for all indications.

In 2014/15, antiretrovirals are funded as a pass through payment to commissioned Trusts.

A mandatory HIV outpatient tariff currency is currently in place which defines patients as new / new on treatment; stable; or complex. This policy would see patients as being either a) new and new on treatment in the first year or b) moving from 'stable' to 'new' (on treatment) for the year that TasP begins.

Patients with diagnosed HIV will require treatment at some point in their disease progress.

11. Audit requirements

The HIV and AIDS Reporting System (HARS) within Public Health England is the national surveillance system to monitor the HIV epidemic in the UK. Through collection of comprehensive data, PHE is able to monitor coverage of HIV treatment over time and by risk group, and describe changing HIV treatment patterns by CD4 count at ART initiation.

12. Documents which have informed this policy

(2014) 'BHIVA guidelines for the treatment of HIV-1-positive adults with antiretroviral therapy 2012 (updated November 2013)

UNAIDS statement on treatment as prevention Framework

BHIVA/EAGA statement on Treatment as Prevention (Fidler, 2013)

NAT statement on Treatment as Prevention, 2013

Please see references.

13. Links to other policies

B06/PS/a Clinical commissioning policy statement: Stribild for the treatment of HIV-1 infection in adults

This policy follows the principles set out in the ethical framework that govern the commissioning of NHS healthcare and those policies dealing with the approach to

experimental treatments and processes for the management of individual funding requests (IFR).

14. Date of review

This policy will be reviewed in April 2017 unless information is received which indicates that the proposed review date should be brought forward or delayed.

References

Aghaizu A, Brown AE, Nardone A, Gill ON, Delpech VC et al. 'HIV in the United Kingdom 2013 Report: data to end 2012'. (2013) Public Health England, London

Aghaizu, A., Brown, A.E., Nardone, A., Gill, O.N. and Delpech, V.C.(2013) 'HIV in the United Kingdom 2013 Report: data to end 2012'. November 2013. Public Health England, London accessed Dec 13.

Ambrosioni, J., Junier, T., Delhumeau, C., Calmy, A., Hirschel, B., Zdobnov, E., Kaiser, L. and Yerly, S. (2012) 'Impact of highly active antiretroviral therapy on the molecular epidemiology of newly diagnosed HIV infections'. AIDS, vol.26, no. 16, October, pp.2079-86.

Brown, A, Delpech V. Public Health England Modelling for TaSP using HARS database. Technical Report for NHS England. July 2014.

Brown, A.E., Gill, O.N. and Delpech, V.C. (2013). 'HIV treatment as prevention among men who have sex with men in the UK: is transmission controlled by universal access to HIV treatment and care?'. HIV Medicine, vol. 14, no. 9, October, pp.563-70.

Cambiano V, O'Connor J, Phillips AN, Rodger A, Lodwick R, Pharris A, Lampe F, Nakagawa F, Smith C, van de Laar MJ. Antiretroviral therapy for prevention of HIV transmission: implications for Europe. Euro Surveill. 2013;18(48):pii=20647. Available online:

http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx?ArticleId=20647Cardo DM et al. (1997) 'A case-control study of HIV seroconversion in health care workers after percutaneous exposure'. New England Journal of Medicine 337: 1485-90.

Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, Hakim J, Kumwenda J, Grinsztejn B, Pilotto JH, Godbole SV, Mehendale S, Chariyalertsak S, Santos BR, Mayer KH, Hoffman IF, Eshleman SH, Piwowar-Manning E, Wang L, Makhema J, et al. (2011) Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. NEJM. 365: 493-505 PMCID: 3200068

Cohen, M.S., Smith, M.K., Muessig, K.E., Hallett, T.B., Powers, K.A. and Kashuba, A.D. (2013) 'Antiretroviral treatment of HIV-1 prevents transmission of HIV-1: where do we go from here?'. Lancet, vol. 382, no. 9903, November, pp. 1515-24.

Department of Health (2013) Framework for sexual health improvement.https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-framework-for-sexual-health-improvement-in-england. Accessed July 2014.

Fisher M, Pao D, Murphy G, Dean G, McElborough D, Homer G, Parry JV (2007) 'Serological testing algorithm shows rising HIV incidence in a UK cohort of men who have sex with men: 10 years application'. AIDS 21:2309-2314.

Gazzard B. Chelsea & Westminster NHS Foundation Trust Dean Street Clinic. Uptake of TaSP amongst MSM. Personal Communication. June 2014.

Gupta, S., Granich, R., Suthar, A.B., Smyth, C., Baggaley, R., Sculier, D., Date, A., Desai, M.A., Lule, F., Raizes, E., Blanc, L. and Hirnschall, G. (2013) 'Global policy review of antiretroviral therapy eligibility criteria for treatment and prevention of HIV and tuberculosis in adults, pregnant women, and discordant couples'. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, vol. 62, no. 3, March, pp. e87-97.

Heymer, K.J. and Wilson, D.P. (2011) 'Treatment for prevention of HIV transmission in a localized epidemic: the case for South Australia'. Sexual Health, vol. 8, no. 3, September, pp. 280-94.

Hull, M.W. and Montaner, J. (2011) 'Antiretroviral therapy: a key component of a comprehensive HIV prevention strategy', Current HIV/AIDS Reports, vol. 8, no. 2, June, pp. 85-93.

Keebler, D., Revill, P., Braithwaite, S., Phillips, A., Blaser, N., Borquez, A., Cambiano, V., Ciaranello, A., Estill, J., Gray, R., Hill, A., Keiser, O., Kessler, J., Menzies, N.A., Nucifora, K.A., Vizcaya, L.S., Walker, S., Weite, A., Esterbrook, P., Doherty, M., Hirnschall, G. and Hallett, T.B. (2014) 'Cost-effectiveness of different strategies to monitor adults on antiretroviral treatment: a combined analysis of three mathematical models'. The Lancet Global Health, vol. 2, no. 1, January, pp.35-43.

Loannidis J P et al. Perinatal transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by pregnant women with RNA virus loads <1000 copies/ml. J Infect Dis 183: 539-545, 2001

Mackellar, D.A., Hou, S.I., Whalen, C.C., Samuelsen, K., Valleroy, L.A., Secura, G.M., Behel, S., Bingham, T., Celentano, D.D., Koblin, B.A., LaLota, M., Shehan, D., Thiede, H. and Torian, L.V. (2011) 'A plausible causal model of HAART-efficacy beliefs, HIV/AIDS complacency, and HIV-acquisition risk behavior among young men who have sex with men'. AIDS & Behaviour, vol. 15, no. 4, May, pp. 788-804.

Mayer, K.H., Wheeler, D.P., Bekker, L.G., Grinsztejn, B., Remien, R.H., Sandfort, T.G. and Beyrer, C. (2013) 'Overcoming biological, behavioural, and structural vulnerabilities: new directions in research to decrease HIV transmission in men who have sex with men'. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, vol. 63, suppl. 2, July, pp. 161-7.

Montaner, J.S. (2013) 'Treatment as prevention: towards an AIDS-free generation', Topics in Antiviral Medicine, vol. 21, no. 3, July, pp. 245-50.

Muessig, K.E., Smith, M.K., Powers, K.A., Lo, Y.R., Burns, D.N., Grulich, A.E., Phillips, A.N. and Cohen, M.S. (2012) 'Does ART prevent HIV transmission among MSM?'. AIDS, vol. 26, no., 18, November, 2267-73.

Murray, J.M. (2013) 'HIV treatment as prevention in a developed country setting: the current situation and future scenarios for Australia', Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, vol. 64, no. 4, December, pp. 409-16.

National Aids Trust (2011) 'Treatment as Prevention'. http://www.nat.org.uk/Media%20library/Files/Policy/2011/NAT_TreatmenTasPrevention2011.pdf. Accessed June 2014.

NHS England. (2013) 'Clinical Commissioning Policy Statement: Stribild® for the treatment of HIV-1 infection in adults' Reference: NHS ENGLAND BO6/Ps/a

Parsons V et al. (2014) 'Temporal trends in cART initiation amongst HIV seroconverters in the UK'. Oral abstract 08.

http://www.bhiva.org/documents/Conferences/2014Liverpool/Presentations/140402/VictoriaParsons.pdf . http://www.bhiva.org/140402VictoriaParsons.aspx. Accessed August 2014.

Phillips A, HIV in MSM in the UK: Prevention effects of ART in perspective (2014a). Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections Boston, USA, 5 March 2014.

Phillips AN, Cambiano V, Miners A, Lampe FC, Rodger A, Nakagawa F, Brown A, Gill ON, De Angelis D, Elford J, Hart G, Johnson AM, Lundgren JD, Collins S, Delpech V. Potential impact on HIV incidence and cost effectiveness of higher HIV testing rates and earlier ART initiation in men-who-have-sex-with-men: the UK as an example. (2014b) (submitted for publication)

Phillips AN, Cambiano V, Nakagawa F, Brown AE, Lampe F, Rodger A, et al. (2013) 'Increased HIV Incidence in Men Who Have Sex with Men Despite High Levels of ART-Induced Viral Suppression: Analysis of an Extensively Documented Epidemic'. PLOS ONE 2013;8(2).

http://www.plosone.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0055312. Accessed June 2014.

Public Health England (2013) Management of HIV infected healthcare workers performing exposure prone procedures.

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/management-of-hiv-infected-healthcare-workers-performing-exposure-prone-procedures. Accessed July 2014.

Public Health England (SOPHID 2012)

Rodger A et al. (2014) 'HIV transmission risk through condomless sex if HIV+ partner on suppressive ART: PARTNER study'. 21st Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, Boston, abstract 153LB, 2014.

S Fidler, J Anderson, Y Azad, V Delpech, C Evans, M Fisher, B Gazzard, N Gill, L. (2013) 'Position statement on the use of antiretroviral therapy to reduce HIV transmission, January 2013: The British HIV Association (BHIVA) and the Expert Advisory Group on AIDS (EAGA)'. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/19368 9/Position_statement_on_the_use_of_ART_to_reduce_HIV_transmission__Jan_201 3.pdf. Accessed May 2014.

Smith D (2013) 'Condom efficacy by consistency of use among MSM:US' The 20th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, Atlanta abstract 32, 2013.

Sorensen, S.W., Sansom, S.L., Brooks, J.T., Marks, G., Begier, E.M., Buchacz, K., Dinenno, E.A., Mermin, J.H. and Kilmarx, P.H. (2012) 'A mathematical model of comprehensive test-and-treat services and HIV incidence among men who have sex with men in the United States'. PLoS ONE, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. e29098.

START Study website. http://www.thestartstudy.org/index.html. Accessed July 2014.

von Linstow M L et al. (2010) 'Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in Denmark, 1994-2008'. HIV Medicine- online edition, DO1: 10.1111/j.1468-129.2009.00811x, 2010

Weller SC, Davis-Beaty K. (2002) 'Condom effectiveness in reducing heterosexual HIV transmission'. Cochrane Database Systematic Review 2002;1: CD003255

Williams, I., Churchill, D., Anderson, J., Boffito, M., Bower, M., Cairns, G., Cwynarski, K., Edwards, S., Fidler, S., Fisher, M., Freedman, A., Geretti, A.M., Gilleece, Y., Horne, R., Johnson, M., Khoo, S., Leen, C., Marshall, N., Nelson, M., Orkin, C., Paton, N., Phillips, A., Post, F., Pozniak, A., Sabin, C., Trevelion, R. and Ustianowski, A. (2014) 'BHIVA guidelines for the treatment of HIV-1-positive adults with antiretroviral therapy 2012 (updated November 2013)', HIV Medicine, vol. 15, suppl. 1, 1–85.

Wood, E., Milloy, M.J. and Montaner, J.S. (2012) 'HIV treatment as prevention among infecting drug users', Current Opinion in HIV & AIDS, vol. 7, no. 2, March, pp. 151-6.